

THERE  
IS ABSOLUTELY  
NO  
INEVITABILITY...  
AS LONG AS

# MOORING MAST

THERE IS A  
WILLINGNESS TO  
CONTEMPLATE WHAT  
IS HAPPENING  
—Marshal McLuhan

VOLUME XLV

PACIFIC LUTHERAN UNIVERSITY—FRIDAY, JAN. 12, 1968

NUMBER 13

## Leisure Vetoes Open Houses

ASPLU's proposal for a revised open house policy was recently turned down by Dr. Daniel Leisure, Vice President for Student Affairs. The refusal came shortly before Christmas vacation.

The proposal — drawn up by ASPLU officers and several legislators would have allowed residence halls to hold their own open houses as requested by the residents of the hall and approved by their Head Resident. A committee representing legislature, Social Activities Board, the men's and women's residence halls, and the Office of Student Affairs would establish further regulations with regards to hours and door policy.

The request for the proposal was denied by Dr. Leisure in a memo to ASPLU President Stenersen. The following reasons were given:

1. Traditionally, our campus has had two Open Houses, one in the fall at which time students have the opportunity to see the rooms of friends in the residence halls, and another at Christmas time, when students and faculty have an opportunity to see the many beautiful Christmas decorations accomplished by a number of students. At no time was the concept of an Open House on this campus intended to be an outgoing social activity.

2. The residence hall room is designed as a bedroom and a study room. It is not designed for the purpose of social entertaining. Lounges and recreation rooms have been provided for this, and we hope soon to break ground for an excellent facility which will offer considerably more sources for social and recreational activity than we now have.

3. Unless there would be unanimous agreement among the residents in each hall for every Open House request, a program of this nature would infringe upon the rights of the minority who have a right to expect privacy in their own quarters whenever they want it.

4. The inability to visit the private area of men's or women's living quarters does not preclude educational experiences from taking place in the residence halls. A number of thoughtful groups have already conducted meaningful edu-

tional experiences, and there is much that can yet be done in this area under the present living plan.

5. The "negative" system enforced by fines that you refer to has been abolished for over a year. If a student damages or destroys property in the residence halls he simply pays for the repair or replacement. Acts of irresponsibility in the residence halls are treated the same as acts of irresponsibility anywhere on campus.

ASPLU President Stan Stenersen sent the proposal to the Administration, and Ron Grawe introduced the measure in legislature. The Administration's denial of the proposal preceded Legislature's ap-

proval, although Social Activities Board endorsed the plan 12-1 before the decision was made. Legislature, acting after Dr. Leisure's decision, added post-mortem student support with a 22-0 roll-call vote.

Stenersen stated that he was "disappointed" at the decision. "We felt that this proposal would strengthen residence hall programs by allowing them more diversity in their planning and putting an initiative for success of the program on the membership of the hall."

Denial of the request leaves the campus with its two "established" open houses, held at Homecoming and before Christmas.

## Poole Trio Explores New Jazz Dimensions

"I want to blend jazz music into the motif of chamber music," said John Poole, leader of the experimental jazz group entertaining this Saturday at 8:30 p.m. in Xavier 201.

The John Poole Trio is composed of three musicians currently sta-

tioned at Fort Lewis. Poole, 23, is a graduate of the Southern California School of Music. Joe DeLuca, 26, the drummer, performed as a studio musician in New York City before joining the army. He graduated from Manhattan School of Music as a percussionist. The bassist, John Hornschuh, 23, teaches bass in Tacoma.

The trio performed several times in the Diet of Worms in what John Poole calls an "entertainment role." "Since then," he stated, "John has joined the group and our emphasis has changed. We want to present an experimental concert — a spontaneous concert — which gives us a chance to use our training."

Jazz, Poole explained, is a "communicative art." "We want all sorts of reactions to what we will present," he said.

Poole's concert promises to be an educational experience as well as a musical concert for sheer entertainment. "This is one of the reasons we decided to bring them," stated Mike Doolittle, ASPLU 2nd Vice President.

Admission to the concert is complimentary.

## Figures Show LIFE Drive Nearing Goal

MINNEAPOLIS, MINN. — With one-fifth of the congregations reporting, The American Lutheran Church has passed the half-way mark in its \$20,000,000 Lutheran Ingathering for Education (LIFE).

Announcement of pledges totaling \$10,029,340 was made this week by Dr. George S. Schultz, director of the LIFE campaign.

"This figure represents pledges from about 1,000 of the 5,000 congregations of The American Lutheran Church," Dr. Schultz said. "Many organizations have indicated that they will conduct their campaign during 1968 and many others have conducted their campaign but have not reported their pledges," he said.

"I am convinced that when all the pledges are in we will have passed our goal," Dr. Schultz said.

Tom Stuen was recently elected 1968 Mooring Mast editor by the Student-Faculty Publications Board of PLU.

## Stuen Named to Editorship

A physics major from Seattle, Stuen has been working on the paper for the past year in the capacity of sports editor. He will begin his term of office in February, following that of the present editor, Conrad Zipprian, a history major from Great Falls, Montana.

Two other juniors applied for the editorship. They are Chris Beehler, sociology major and Robert Larson, history major.

Other editorial and staff positions have not yet been announced.



TOM STUEN  
MM Editor, 1968

The ASPLU legislature met last Monday evening and passed a couple of significant resolutions. The first was a proposal suggesting that in certain areas of the campus dining halls, smoking be permitted at meals. The resolution recommends that the University purchase fifty ash trays and place them on the back six tables in both the CUB and CC dining areas.

It was argued by Terry Nasley, the author of the resolution, that quite a few students smoke, and that the cigarette and cup of coffee immediately following a meal is the one most appreciated by smokers.

The objection was raised that some people do not like smoke, and that allowing smoking would offend these people. The counter was made that at public eating places one had to sort of "take one's chances" with being offended by smokers.



ERSKINE CALDWELL, noted author and writer of "God's Little Acre," will speak on campus Feb. 1.

## Caldwell to Speak On God's Little Acre

Erskine Caldwell will visit campus on February 1 to deliver a major address on "Changing Writers and Changing Times." The speech will be delivered in Eastwood Chapel during convocation period. Caldwell is the well-known American author of such works as *God's Little Acre* and *Tobacco Road*. ASPLU will sponsor the all-campus movie on *God's Little Acre* which is to be shown FREE on Wednesday, January 31, the last night of semester break.

In addition, an all-campus book review will be held on the book *God's Little Acre*. The bookstore now has the novel in stock at a very cheap price. After his speech,

Caldwell will conduct a book review of the aforementioned work.

A literary giant in every sense of the word, Erskine Caldwell continues a spectacularly successful career. A new novel, "Miss Mamie Alman" (spring of 1967), and a book of essays, "Writing in America" (fall of 1966), are recent works. In addition, he is constantly on the move, seeing the world around him with eyes and a mind that reflect deeply on the social scene. His latest book is "Deep South: A Memoir" (1966).

Mr. Caldwell's novel, "God's Little Acre," which The Saturday Review called "one of the finest studies of Southerners poor whites that has ever come into our literature," is probably the most widely read contemporary American novel. It is a perennial classic in the U.S. and, during World War II, was sent overseas to American servicemen in an Armed Services edition. It has been translated into 24 languages and been published in 26 countries.

## Rabbi Speaks In Convocation

Rabbi Richard Rosenthal of Temple Beth El in Tacoma, will represent the Jewish Chautauqua Society as lecturer at Pacific Lutheran University on Thursday, January 18. The rabbi will speak in assembly at 9:30 a.m. on the subject "Jewish Folklore."

The rabbi lectures on college campuses under the auspices of the Jewish Chautauqua Society, an organization which creates better understanding of Jews and Judaism through education.

## Editorial

**Student Power - Humbug**

I have often heard several references to the phrase Student Power. That such a term is used on this campus is absurd. The formula for Student Power is quite simple: Mass Awareness, Mass Commitment and Mass Action. If these exist, Student Power can be a reality.

Mass awareness and mass commitment are self-explanatory. Without these there can be no commitment and without commitment there is no need nor possibility for mass action.

But what is the nature of mass action? It can range from voting in an organized election or poll and speaking through a representative structure, to petitions, demonstrations, test cases, or other legal means. The type of action depends, of course, on the issue and the intensity of the awareness and commitment.

Though I do so reluctantly, I must however, conclude that given this formula, Student Power at PLU is an anachronism. For there is no mass awareness, commitment, and especially action.

It may have been noticed that I have made no mention of the size of the mass necessary to make Student Power a reality. Admittedly, I'm not sure. Perhaps those 22 legislators who voted for an open house bill (despite Dr. Leisure's denial—see story on page 1) could help me decide; or maybe those 119 who worked "yes" on a recent AM poll could suggest a figure.

There is no magic figure and the mass can range in size from 1 to 1,000. But without the formula there is no power for anyone.

— Zipperian

**With Restraint**

To the Editor:

In the student news items by ~~two~~ concerning MERA and student power that published in the Mooring Mast, several members of the "small but vocal minority" have confirmed my view that ~~they~~ are campaigning against the organization.

Although my views may not have been substantially altered, I do feel that I have partly accomplished one of our main goals in writing the issues, that of creating some discussion. However, predictably, still MERA. If nothing else, perhaps a further discussion of this issue would be in order, but in this letter I will try to direct with the more important question of the goal of student power.

I believe the goal of the PLU student power movement should be that increased student interest and participation in, and involvement in, all student affairs.

I also believe that the method by which we go about obtaining

this goal is as important, if not more important than the goal itself, for ~~now~~ the most likely threat comes to students by haphazard and ~~selfish~~ action. This control should be, if you will allow me to use a quote from Carl Becker, "freedom tempered with restraint."

Urgo's celebrated "Student Power" campaign promise has turned out to be loaded a malice and has had many beneficial effects in the quest for academic, social and religious freedom. Student members of faculty committees, a rejuvenated ASPLU headed by a dynamic president, increased student-administration dialogue in controversial issues and the sharing ~~of~~ ~~the~~ ~~same~~ ~~student~~ ~~force~~ are ~~in~~ ~~various~~ ~~sides~~ in increasing student participation and sharing of student affairs.

The appointment of such ~~young~~ administrators as Dr. L.

Dean Shaffer, Miss Lester and Mr. Larson, the appointment of graduate students as board residents and (between fortid) as ~~re~~ ~~new~~ ~~MERA~~ ~~can~~ ~~help~~ ~~to~~ ~~open~~ ~~channels~~ ~~for~~ ~~student~~ ~~problem~~ ~~and~~ ~~suggestion~~.

These and many other changes have made this yr. Despite much ~~ruckus~~, ~~nothing~~ ~~is~~ ~~the~~ ~~contrary~~, ~~the~~ ~~more~~ ~~liberal~~ ~~and~~ ~~progressive~~ ~~in~~ ~~the~~ ~~school's~~ ~~history~~.

Even though we as ~~we~~ ~~have~~ ~~been~~ ~~instrumental~~ ~~in~~ ~~implementing~~ ~~many~~ ~~of~~ ~~these~~ ~~changes~~, I believe it is folly for us to say that now it is time to become ~~aristocrats~~ ~~in~~ ~~order~~ ~~to~~ ~~serve~~ ~~our~~ ~~ideals~~.

For there is nothing that will turn a sensitive administration against its subjects faster than a show of militant force and irrational demands. In other words, in order to maintain a constantly rising level of progress, we must remain rational and show maturity at all times. To claim an too strong too soon would be not only disastrous, but local, to our cause.

Thus our academic, social and political freedom must always be tempered with restraint. The only way we will be able to get increased student participation in and control of student affairs is through a broadening and strengthening of parliamentary means.

To do this we must always to establish administration co-operation by showing our maturity and ability to take on new responsibilities.

The tempering of our new-found freedom with restraint will insure for us the continued gain in participation and power we desire. A headlong rush for power will no doubt give us any but the immediate consequences will doom our movement to inglorious and ineffective defeat.

JIM HUSHAGEN  
Soph., History

**COP in Reply**

To the Editor:

In reply to the positions expressed by Jim Hushagen, an admitted exponent of the liberal viewpoint, although YR club president, in a letter to the TURK vis-a-vis an article signed by me in the same publication, I offer the following:

1. Miss Rutledge implies that I have "attempted" to establish myself as a conservative spokesman of PLU. I have done so to as much as I represent Young Americans for Freedom, a campus recognized group as a representative of conservative political thought. I do not claim knowledge of each and every conservative position, agree with each and every one, nor do I propose to defend those positions I do not hold.

2. I assert that my viewpoint is totally unique, being shared by at least the 21 million Republicans who voted for Barry Goldwater in 1964.

————— Page 2

**Use Discretion**

To the Editor:

Regarding your headline on page 2 of 2/26, Dec. 8, 1967 (Hobby Declares War on Peace Lovers), we feel that this is an obviously slanted statement and that such a prejudicial view is an acidic one as is supposed to be factual. Is totally unwarranted. There is no evidence either pro or con that anti-war demonstrators are necessarily peace lovers, or that those who fight the war in Vietnam are not peace lovers. And seeing no factual basis for this statement we trust object to the use and large the Mooring Mast to use more discretion in the future.

BARB THOMPSON  
Soph., History

PATTIE COWELL  
Freshman, English

P.S. We added a slight yellow line to your taskbar.

**MOORING MAST**

Voice of the Students of Pacific Lutheran University  
Opinions expressed in the Mooring Mast are not necessarily those of Pacific Lutheran University, the administration, faculty or Mooring Mast staff.

Affiliated with United States Student Press Association  
National Educational Advertising Service is sole national advertising representative.

CONRAD ZIPPERIAN, Editor

DAVE YEARSLEY  
*Associate Editor*

BOB LARSON  
*News Editor*

TOM STUEN  
*Sports Editor*

KAREN HART  
*Graphics Manager*

JOHN PEDERSEN  
*Business Manager*

CHEIS BEAHLER  
*Feature Editor*

NANCY WATERS  
*Editorial Assistant*

DR. PAUL REIGSTAD  
*Adviser*



STAFF: Bill Dowdy, Nancy Bradley, Scott Green, Lee Beyer, Rick Rose, Ruth Klavans, Lorrie LeFever, Diana Johnson, Bill Oien, Paul Wurst, Diana Carter, Barb Barger, Linda Haug, Nancy Muller, Pam Phil, Jack Henderson, Carol Trojka, David Bengstrand, Carol Jo Kaukaberg, Virginia Klein, Zat Kosner, T. Norman Thomas.

# Conscience Greater Than Law?

(ACT) — After years — no word the draft is against the law. The Rev. Robert Branconier, a Catholic chaplain at the University of North Dakota Grand Forks, says he will flout the law to order to obey his conscience.

His action, the Duluth Student commented in an editorial, is the American tradition:

—two hundred years ago, 23 American colonists favored a British freighter and assumed her cargo into the Boston Harbor;

—one hundred and ten years ago, white Yankees operated an "underground railroad" and, in direct defiance of the Federal Fugitive Slave Act, helped Negro slaves to escape to the North sometimes to Canada;

—seventy-five years ago, European sailors were leaving their homelands to escape military conscription (today, some of us call them our ancestors);

—five years ago, northern whites, acting in defiance of the South's segregation laws, rode bus Mississippi.

Today we courageously...

To those rare certain situations where no inhumane, certain actions so monstrous, that public opposition was necessary. Some were fortunate enough to find a

## GOP - In Reply

(Continued from Page 2)

3. Miss Rutledge seems to imply that actions of ASPLU are synonymous with the aims and wishes of all students or the University. ASPLU being a (student) government, her position is analogous to asserting that the Johnson Administration represents the viewpoints of every citizen in the U.S.A. Obviously this position is absurd.

4. Mr. Stevenson's public utterances, unfortunately, are taken by many as present opposition of ASPLU's opinion, to represent the position of ASPLU. They are thus used, in opposition to my assertion vis-a-vis ASPLU representation of the student body, to be representative of campus opinion. Obviously, I (and presumably a few others) do not care to give Mr. Stevenson's career aspirations to represent our beliefs to the general public.

5. As for Miss Rutledge's request to see an alternative to Stan Stevenson's methods of achieving peace, I commend to her a study of the alternatives proposed by the late John Foster Dulles, Richard M. Nixon, Barry M. Goldwater, and others much closer to home than me.

And so, I ask once more for a more appropriate silence from the young UO, who so oddly bards the representation of the more conservative of our two major parties.

KEVIN ELLIANDER  
Junior Pol. Sci.  
A PLU YC member

new life; some succeeded in changing the conditions or laws they opposed. Others with their lives were lost, or were released.

Father Branconier is willing to take that chance today. He, with thousands of other Americans, finds the Vietnam war intolerable, the draft laws an abridgement of freedom.

Unlike most Americans, his conscience will not let him stand in silence.

Some demonstrators have broken the law to exercise their con-

science. Some of them have gone to jail for a democratic society recognizes the majority of the law and the rule of the majority.

But a democratic society must also recognize that the concepts which foster laws are more precious than the laws themselves. When a law contradicts the concept which fostered it, a man's first allegiance must be to the concept. That is the principle of civil disobedience.

A man's conscience is more powerful than man's law.

## University Graduates Potential Disbelievers

By RICK ROUSE, XDC Staff

The American Institute of Public Opinion recently announced that "paradoxically" college-trained persons are less likely to believe than are persons with only a high school education."

This was one of the findings of the Gallop Poll which declared that "nearly all Americans reveal a belief in God."

87% of Americans professed a belief in God. Among the remaining 13%, a Seattle college graduate stated the "so-called proofs of the existence of God are pure hodge-podge."

Yet, in this nation-wide survey, which indicated that the "God is Dead" movement made little ground, large majorities asserted that America's belief in God is firmly based. 97% claimed a particular religious preference; church attendance climbed to 80%.

The survey of churchgoers now give the college graduate credit for 40% attendance of their people, while only 11% of others without college training went with any regularity.

It was at the same time noticed that young people were the most unconcerned about the existence of God, for only 40% of people under 20 years of age professed concern or indicated they attended church. 47% of the group over 30 years frequently attend church, with professionals, business people, and farmers leading the attendance records.

Part of the survey revealed reasons for a person's belief in God. 39% said they attributed their belief to "authoritative" sources such as the Bible and religious training in home, church, or school. About 20% gave "natural" reasons including the wonders of nature and

**Edward Flatness**  
SUBSIDIARY AGENT  
LUTHERAN PENSION  
LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY  
P.O. Box 3275  
PARKLAND, WISCONSIN 53564  
Telephone: 327-5226

the order and laws of the universe.

"Empirical" reasons related to the love or experience of a person were professed by 10%. And most Americans polled showed that we can have a clear notion of what God is like "through the Bible or the life of Jesus."

Can you relate yourself to the vital question of a belief in God? As a member of this "Christian" community at Pacific Lutheran University can you afford not to participate in this quest for faith?

Though Lutherans do have the best church-going record, only 20% of Protestants attend church; 44% of the Roman Catholics are faithful. You are encouraged to search and see if you find Jesus' God to act appropriately. "Love your God and light the world!"



UNDER THE CRITICAL EYE of Gavel Club President Jim Ross, bearded speaker Dave Rice questions procedure during the business portion of the Toastmaster Club's meeting.

## New Members Invited By PLU Gavel Club

By GLEE KLUTH

Perhaps you know how some smartly dressed young men every Friday at dinner waltz into the Small Dining Room and have never dared what they do behind that closed door.

You have been watching the members of PLU Gavel Club No. 109. Behind that door is a group of chattering fellow students. Or maybe it would be better to say communicating fellow students. The purpose of this Gavel Club, as stated in the Constitution, is:

To improve its members in the oral expression of thought.

To increase their ability to appear before audiences and creditably express themselves, and to encourage the development of such ability in others.

To secure fair and constructive criticism.

To promote sociability, general welfare and good fellowship among the members.

To gain experience in public speaking and instruction in chairmanship and parliamentary procedure.

What this says is that they have a constructively good time every Friday at 6:00 p.m. And more each semester they invite some young ladies to join in the fun. Contrary to what was told before, the door is not always closed; it is open to anyone who wants to learn and develop better speaking techniques while having a good time.

## Psych Program Offered

A doctoral program in the Psychology of Classroom Learning and Instruction is offered by the University of Idaho, College of Education.

Students of learning and instruction, research methodology and statistics, and measurement and evaluation. Students complete a graduate minor in experimental psychology.

The purpose of this program is to train research-oriented educational psychologists and college teachers capable of dealing effectively with the special problems of classroom teaching and instruction.

There is a flexible program of study, with a minimum of three years' work toward the bachelor's degree, leading to a Ph.D. or Ed.D. in education. The core of required courses emphasizes psy-

'63 CARMEN GHIA  
Beautiful, one-owner  
Low mileage  
Call  
MA 7-4333

**ANGELA'S**  
PIZZA — RAVIOLI  
SPAGHETTI — CHICKEN  
Bun-Der-Voo  
To go PIZZA PIZZAS  
141st & Pacific Avenue  
—CLOSED WEEKENDS—  
ANGELA'S BAKERY, Pacific

**Austin's  
Lakewood  
Jewelers**  
DIAMONDS — WATCHES  
Repairs  
**VELA PLAZA**  
Phone SU 8-4311

**PARKLAND  
FUEL OIL SERVICE**  
LE 7-0256  
If No Answer Call BR 3-5148  
—CITY WIDE SERVICE—  
130th & Pacific Ave. PARKLAND

**PARKLAND  
BARBER SHOP**  
FOR THE FINEST HAIR CUTS  
OR TRIMS ON CAMPUS  
GARFIELD AND "C" ST.  
(2 blocks from the campus)

**NORTHWEST  
INTERIORS**  
UNUSUAL GIFTS & CARDS  
12202 PACIFIC AVENUE

**PARKLAND  
INTERIORS**  
UNUSUAL GIFTS & CARDS  
12202 PACIFIC AVENUE

**PARKLAND  
INTERIORS**  
UNUSUAL GIFTS & CARDS  
12202 PACIFIC AVENUE

# Kimsey Speaks on Viet Nam

By LES DAVIDSON

**Sgt. GENE KIMSEY**, who has stationed at Fort Lewis, spoke in Puyallup Dec. 12 on Vietnam. He had just completed a year of duty in that country as a local adviser and knew the problems of Viet Nam personally and intimately.

According to Kimsey, the problems of Vietnam are difficult for the public to know because of their complexity and because of the vagueness of the American press media in its reporting.

The purpose of holding in Viet Nam is to help the urban guerrilla.

They asked for our assistance and we gave it. A new government must be established and stabilized. This is difficult since the government controls only about the city while the Viet Cong can campaign during the night. Also, the people of Viet Nam must have no political goals. South Vietnam has many factions. There are divisions of a

religious, language and race integration of a society like this is difficult when there isn't much racial cohesion.

Kimsey estimated that only 5% of the people actively support the South Vietnamese government while about 15% actively support the Viet Cong. This leaves about 40% of the people with no affiliation.

Vietnamese democracy is dead culture is very weak here with a 5% literacy rate. Voting is impossible. The elections so far have been mostly pretenses.

Commenting on the Viet Cong army, he said that most of their soldiers are dead (political and death caused).

There are three types of Viet Cong soldiers:

1. The South Vietnamese Guerrilla is an undisciplined rag rag recruit. He is a parasite during the day and a guerrilla during the night. He is very difficult to control.

2. The South Vietnamese regular has good discipline and is quite well-trained. He is very poorly equipped, however, and often suffers much before he can get to them for lack of medical supplies.

3. The North Vietnamese soldier is quite well-trained, supplies are the greatest difficulty with these soldiers also. All transport is by foot from North Vietnam, and medical attention is non-existent. They are formed in small companies with good leaders, and they fight with desperation.

Recruiting is difficult for all the Viet Cong because of the high fatality rate they sustain. Transport used is poor, many of the recruits get lost or die on the way to the scrambled jungle. Then they can't volunteers, they don't see anyone willing. They are difficult to catch since so many are guerrillas. The Viet Cong is beginning to depend more and more on women and children. Although they are not as strong as men, they are ideal for espionage and sabotage.

In contrast to the Viet Cong, the United States army is well equipped, well led, well trained, well fed and kept well by one of the best medical treatment in the world. They have recreational facilities and unrestricted mail.

Even though the weather is uncomfortable, and the terrain and swimming jungle make it almost intolerable, the American soldier has to look forward to only one year of combat service to Viet Nam.

The American form of combat has been called ineffective and unnecessary. Captain Khuney said, though, that with the assistance of the American intelligence operations, bombing has become very effective.

Kimsey thought that most of the Viet Cong were not ideological Communists. They probably would be surprised to be called Communists, or perhaps baffled by the term. If they are Communists, they are nationalists primarily and Communists secondarily. He believes most of the Viet Cong actually think that their actions will ultimately benefit Vietnam.



## Potpourri -

By ROSE ■■■■■

**Kringelhoefer-Hedman:** Miss Normajean Kringelhoefer had a candlepassing in Harstad to announce her engagement to Neil Hedman, junior business major. Normajean is from Milwaukie, Oregon and Neil is from Everson, Washington. They will be married March 23, then move to Bellingham where he will continue his studies.

**Wilson-Rife:** Miss Lorna Wilson, a junior sociology major from Tumwater, Washington, has announced in a candlepassing that she will marry Marvin Rife. He is a sergeant in the Air Force and will soon go overseas. They have not set a wedding date.

**Burgel-Lacey:** Miss Cheryl Burgel has announced her engagement to Don Lacey. She is a sophomore education major and Don is also a sophomore education major and he plans to teach music studies. Cheryl and Don are from Redmond, Oregon, where they attended high school together. They plan to marry after they complete their junior year.

**Lauterbach-Lane:** Wanda Lauterbach, a freshman music major from Barlowville, Illinois, will marry David Lane who is a draftsman in Bremerton. No wedding date has been set.

**Richardson-Johnson:** As a beautiful candlepassing, Miss Diane Richardson announced her engagement to Ross Johnson. She is a music major in music and Ross is a music production student. They are both from Everett, Washington and they plan to marry in August, 1968.

**Strandlien-Kluth:** Miss Charlene Strandlien will "tie" in Lee KMB and has her candlepassing in Hindertie Hall. She is a junior elementary education major from LaGrande, Oregon and Lee is a music speech major from Portland. She also plans to go into the seminary. They will marry in August.

**Wilson-Magelssen:** Pennie Wilson announced her engagement to Dave Magelssen. Pennie is a junior from Bainbridge Island, majoring in physical education and her fiance is a junior at the University of Hawaii where he is majoring in special education. They will marry next summer and then take a boat to Hawaii and finish their schooling at the University of Hawaii.

**Johnson-Lakin:** Miss Barb Johnson, a junior nursing student from Spokane will marry Jim Lakin, a junior at Montana State University, who is also from Spokane. The wedding date is indefinite.

**Simmons-Jackson:** Miss Susie Simmons, a sophomore elementary education major from Quincy, Washington, has announced that she is engaged to Stephen Jackson. He is writing to the Army and is in Vietnam. They plan to marry on October 10, 1968.

**Hicker-Wheeler:** Miss Linda Wheeler, a junior P.E. major from Edgewood, Washington has announced that she will marry Jim Wheeler, who is stationed at Ft. Monmouth, N.J. with the Army. They plan to be married in the last summer of '68.

**Wynn-Lamden:** Miss Marsha Wynn had a recent candlepassing in Garfield to announce her engagement to Randy Lamden, a junior psychology major at UPS. Randy is a sophomore elementary education major from Seattle. The wedding date is indefinite.

**Dyce-Salley:** Miss Linda Dyce passed her candle in Hindertie Hall Monday night to announce her engagement to Lavern Salley. Linda is a sophomore sociology major from Tacoma, and her fiance is stationed with the U.S. Navy at the Diego. They will marry next fall.

**Endsley-Williams:** Miss Melody Endsley, a music education major from Long Beach, California, is engaged to Lori Williams who is in the Coast Guard. They will be married in the Eastvold Tower Chapel Friday evening, January 12 at 7 p.m. There will be a reception in the Hob Hall lounge following the wedding.

If your engagement hasn't been printed in the Morning Mast, please call ext. 481.

### POBO 5800 SHOWERS

UPS FIELDHOUSE USE — JAN. 12, 1968 — 8:00 P.M.

TICKETS \$1.00

Available at the door or in ASPLU Offices

### BLUE SPRUCE MOTEL

ONE AND TWO BEDROOM APARTMENTS  
SUITE WITH SLEEPERS — PRIVATE  
FREE TV AND COFFEE  
DISH AND MILITARY DISCOUNT

12715 PACIFIC AVENUE  
Tacoma, Wash.

LE 1-6111

### Pete's Auto Repair

GENERAL AUTOMOBILE REPAIR  
AUTOMATIC TRANSMISSIONS  
WHEEL AND TIRES  
11101 Pacific LE 1-6561

### Doe and Gene's RICHFIELD

TUNE-UPS  
BRAKE SERVICE  
STARTER AND GENERATOR REPAIR  
M-F 7:00-8:00 — 10:00 P.M.  
12166 Pacific LE 7-3040

### CENTRE CLEANERS

Weekdays 9-6

415 Garfield Street

Saturdays 9-5

Phone LE 7-4300

### This is Farber... HER DIAMOND ENGAGEMENT RING

SELECT IT AT

### MIEROW'S

Tacoma's Traditional Diamond Headquarters for Over 28 Years

Looking for a diamond engagement ring for your bride-to-be? For that most important purchase, you naturally want to be sure of the integrity of your jeweler.

Here you can be certain of quality, prestige, expert counsel. You'll find an unusually complete and attractive collection of diamonds — many in the very price range you have in mind. Why not come in with your fiancée and let us assist you both in choosing the ring she will cherish forever.

Extended Budget Terms • No Carrying Charges  
No Interest

MIEROW'S

900 Broadway

# Knights Smother Badgers

By JACK M. HENDERSON  
MM Staff

Last weekend, after a three-week layoff for the holidays, the Pacific Lutheran Knights opened their Northwest Conference schedule against the Badgers of Pacific University with a pair of victories. Friday night the Lutes won 183-78, and on Saturday night they won 72-62.

After the long layoff, PLU shooting was obviously rusty, but the Knights were much taller than the Badgers and were able to shoot poorly and still rebound well enough to run over a team that only averaged six foul to height.

In Friday night's game, Dennis Buchholz, senior forward, and Tom Meeks, junior guard, led Knight scorers with 17 each. Al Koller, sophomore center, was slow behind with 15 points. Saturday night the Badgers rebounded with 16. It was the second time this season that the Knights had gone over the century mark in scoring.

Saturday night, Buchholz suffered through his worst game of the young season, scoring only four

points for the night. Al Koller had all points with 24 points in a much closer game. The Badgers, riding the night before, seemed only interested in bogging down the score as they played a methodical, low-paced game.

The approximately 1,000 in attendance were treated to a sort of color night light show as the lights went off early in the second half and stayed off for almost four minutes. Shoppers thinned out over the gym as students tried to figure out who they were sitting next to. See sidebar.

The Knights now have a 2-0 win, no losses record in Northwest Conference play and are in second place behind the Linfield Tigers. The Linfield team cannot win the conference championship because they have been put on probation for offering too much. Farandola and two of their basketball players. However, the conference has announced that the win-loss record of conference teams against Linfield will count in the conference standings. The Knights journey to McMinnville next week to meet the team that tied them for the conference championship last year and it will be interesting to see the results of this confrontation.

Coach Lundgaard seems to have created an Buchholz and Stiles at forwards. Koller at center, and Miller and Uppal at guards to his starting lineup, with Tom Meeks available as a strong guard or forward and we look for the Knights to be very tough through out the rest of the season.

The Northwest Conference seems to be as strong this year as it was last year, and it will take 100% effort by all members of the squad to keep the conference title in Portland. With the winning tradition that has been built up to the Parkland Gym, second place is a poor substitute for the conference. Weekend trips to one of five games some are less fortunate by the student legislature so maybe it'll see some of you at the games tonight.



THE BADGERS HAD TROUBLE stopping Tom Meeks last weekend. The junior center from Long Beach City College shot accurately to both games and, with 17 points, tied Dennis Buchholz for scoring honors in Friday's game.

## Keglers Leading Again

By GARY RICHARD, MM Staff

With only one week remaining in the first half of the league, the Keglers lead only by a scant three games over the hard-hitting Jokers. The next week of play will be very important to the teams as it could be the end of October. Anything can happen and three games is not a very big margin.

Two weeks of bowling have

taken place since the last meeting. Last game last week, High games have been rolled, and so have low ones. It seems that as the weeks go by, and finale nears, the scores seem to rise a number for the wins. Hopefully the Jokers are going up instead.

High games for the last two weeks included Gary Richey's 199, Scott Green's 192, and Ed Munson's 186, the week before Christmas, and Gordie Ondahl's 184, Scott Green's 189, and Dave Anderson's 188, last Sunday. High games before Christmas included Gary Richey's 224 and 199, and Scott Green's 199. Last week Gordie Ondahl had 194 and 192, while Ken Sandvik had 202.

The teams had some good games too. The week before Christmas saw the Keglers roll 354 and 353, while their opponents that week, the Hornshires, had 363. Last Sunday, Green dominated the scores with 341, 311, and 309. The Christmas week had the Keglers bowling a 1522 series, while Green had 1601, and the Holy Rollers had 1406. Last Sunday Green had 1661, while the Jokers had 1345.

### STANDINGS

	Win	Loss	Total
Keglers	3-1	2-3	23-21
Jokers	3-2	2-4	20-16
Green	6-2	2-6	20-16
Bourban	4-4	2-6	20-16
Playboys	6-2	2-6	20-16
Deetz	7-1	2-2	22-22
Holy Rollers	3-4	1-3	18-20
Oiske	3-7	1-3	18-20
Perry	2-6	1-3	18-20
Spikes	4-1	1-3	18-20
Hunters	2-6	1-3	18-20
Pycost	6-0	0-3	18-20

## Ski Squad Sent to Mt. Hood

PLU Ski Team will meet their first official competition of the year this weekend at the Oregon Collegiate Ski Conference Race at Mt. Hood. The Oregon Collegiate Ski Conference was started some years ago before Washington was active in ski events. Recently it has been expanded to include some schools in Washington, Idaho, and California. PLU joined the Conference this year.

The races this weekend will include both slalom and giant slalom. As of now it appears as though the top seeded five in slalom will be John Larsen, Dave Christopher, Dave Larson, Bill Zender, and Chris Chandler, with Ron Moblo, Chris Eidal and Andy Stern as alternates.

The giant slalom, a race covering the rhythm of slalom and the speed of downhill, will probably have the following five men seeded to the top positions: John Larsen, Andy Stern, Chris Chandler, Chris Eidal, and Dave Christopher. The alternates to the race will be Dave Larson, Bill Zender, and Ron Moblo.

Lang Kemple, PLU's outstanding female competitor of the last three

years, will race in the women's division of both races. Other new women except at PLU this year are not yet ready for competition.

During the last five days of October vacation the team practiced at Bend, Oregon, under the direction of Dr. Carl Johnson, who is acting as assistant coach as a voluntary basis this year. Johnson is a former national and international Alpine racer for Norway, and also comes with the knowledge of the Nordic events.

### THE SPORTING LIFE

Friday: Basketball against Linfield at McMinnville, Oregon.

Saturday: Skiing at the Oregon Collegiate Ski Conference Meet at Mt. Hood.

Wrestling against UPS at PLU

### SKIERS!

Openings left for semester break. Ski Club trip to Schweitzer Basin. For information call 1420.

# Work-Study Program Provides Opportunity

By BILL CHEN, NM Staff

PLU participates in a federally sponsored financial aid program called the College Work-Study Program. The financial aid office has about 165 students enlisted in the program.

Requirements for a job under work-study are: (1) being a full-time student; (2) having applied for financial aid; and (3) having a financial need (who doesn't?).

Students can work an average maximum of 15 hours a week.

## Manuscripts On Display

By RUTH KLAARANO

NM Staff

Early manuscripts from the first century of printing and 1000 manuscripts dating from the 15th century are currently being exhibited in the University Gallery located on the PLU library. They are available for viewing and sale until January 28.

Items included of the incunabula emphasize early woodcut illustrations, forerunners of the modern illustrated book.

The original manuscripts exhibit and range from small inexpensive pages from medieval Bibles and meditation books to the large musical sheets and illuminated leaves. In addition there are a few examples of near-eastern and Indian manuscripts.

## PLU Graduate Hurt in Action

Reported wounded in action in Quang Nam, Vietnam, is Lance Corporal Earl C. Gerheim, 1965 graduate and son of Dr. Earl Gerheim, biology professor.

Gerheim received fragmentation wounds to the back and left side from a hostile explosive device while on an operation December 28.

He is presently receiving treatment aboard the U.S. hospital ship USS Sanctuary and is reported in good condition.

### Stella's Flowers FLOWERS FOR ALL OCCASIONS

32175 PACIFIC AVE. LE 7-8286  
(East of Garfield St.) We Deliver

### OK BARBER SHOP

"Don't be afraid,  
we'll trim you!"

CLAY KELLY

506 Garfield St.

LE 1-3262

### Parkland Shell Service

- Tune-up
- Brake Service
- Wheel Alignment

OPEN 6:00 A.M. TO 9:00 P.M.

13221 Pacific Avenue  
Phone LE 7-9991

of work while school is in session and 40 hours a week during vacations.

While \$1.25 minimum wage is not too attractive, it is possible that one may earn up to \$2.00 an hour at certain highly specialized jobs. The employee in Work-Study receives 100% of his pay from the government and the remaining 100% from the institution.

Only about one-third of the students that this ~~approximately~~ car pool are in the Work-Study program; the others participate in PLU's financial aid program which does not have as stringent requirements for employment.

PLU puts out a total of nearly \$1.2 million dollars a year in financial aid to its students.

## SITZMARKS

(Third in a series for the recreational skier, by K. E. Christopher Ross, PLU Ski Coach).

Co-co—I might as well say the hateful word: Conditioning! You've gotta be out subject, though I risk turning you off and losing you. In the affluent society it's easier to get your attention on ski equipment, expensive as it is. Conditioning is harder to buy: not a nickel, but lots of will power. Still, people often ask me, "What exercises should I do to get ready for skiing?" Answer: It's not so much what you do as that you do it! That you eat at all, or read this far, shows you suspect skiing is not grueling exercise. Correct! Probably no other common recreational sport is so strenuous on subjects muscles and bones to so many strains.

But conditioning takes convincing, so I ~~will~~ (I kind of give up). You'll ~~actually~~ enjoy doing more, if you're in condition for it, for you'll be able to do more changes in skills—better turns, quicker and stronger movements, easier falls, and you'll be able to do them under control in the day. And you'll ~~ache~~ less afterward!

"So when afterward are a pain? It's conditioning a pain tool so why should I do it?"

Because it's after easier! Statistics show there are two injuries in the skiers who've done conditioning: good muscles help protect against sprains and breaks. Skating has a 5% injury rate. That is, for every thousand skiers on the slopes in any day, an average of six will get an injury serious enough to send them to the first-aid room—a cut, bad sprain, sprain or break. But most of this total injury rate is concentrated in two groups: the beginners, and those in poor condition. Why be in both groups? Everybody has to be a beginner once.

### CHARTER BUSES

Puyallup-Sumner Stages  
PLU Drivers

FOR INFORMATION CALL:

Dave Rice, ext. 345

Con Zipprian, ext. 1351

### GUNDERSON Original Scenery

304 BROADWAY  
TACOMA  
203265527 PINE STREET  
SEATTLE  
WA 4-1331

# MOORING MAST TO THE POINT

### CHAPEL SCHEDULE

January 18—Eastveld: Dr. Bexton; Trinity: John Peterson

January 17—Eastveld: Dr. Bexton; Trinity: John Peterson

January 16—Eastveld: Rabbi Richard Rosenthal

January 19—Eastveld: Dr. Swanson; Trinity: John Peterson

### STAFF HEALTH

At this time of year the "FLU BUG" is lurking around and be wary! This nasal creature can strike at any hour in God's peace and it happens during the night. Follow the recommended advice of bedrest, fluids and tolerated food (not important until the fever phase has subsided) and Aspirin, if not allergic. Report to the Student Health Center in the 2nd floor if you are suffering the day, please report immediately to the Health Center as you can get attention when nurses and doctors are more available.

**ACUTE LOCALIZED ABDOMINAL PAIN SHOULD BE REPORTED AT ONCE.**



PAUL ASKLAND

## Data Process Head Named

Paul A. Askland of Edmonds, Wash., has been appointed director of data processing at Pacific Lutheran University, announced President Robert Mortvedt.

Norman Nestag will continue as a associate operator in the data processing office, working under Askland.

Askland held a similar post at Seattle Community College for three years prior to being selected for Boeing Company in Seattle.

He has 12 years of experience with data processing equipment, starting with his six-year tour of duty with the U.S. Navy as a machine accountant. He worked as manager of data processing for the American Chemical Society in Washington, D.C., for two years before to the Navy.

Askland is a native of Bellingham, Wash. He will receive his bachelor of business administration degree from the University of Washington during graduation ceremonies in March.

His wife, the former Carol King, and their two children will join him in Tacoma as soon as housing is arranged. She attended PLU during the late 50's.

## 'The Zodiak' Presented by Alpine Haus

By DICK KING

Saturday night, January 13, the Man of Alpine Haus will box the campus at their adult club. The Zodiak. The evening will include five short shows beginning at 7:45 and continuing until 10:30.

Shows star-studded 1968 BRT stars and the best of our own campus talent. Included are such popular names as Uncle Budaker, Kathy and David Vold, Jim Ward, Ellen Schmitz, and Karen Bell. Other PLU credits are Jeff Petersen, Dave Hurlin, Carolyn Spruck, Lew Johnson, and John Elmer.

There will be a cover charge of 25 cents for singles and 30 cents for couples. The main floor of the Zodiak (15th floor Tingletown) will be an 80 unreserved level, while reservations may be made Thursday or dinner or tickets on the main floor balcony. All students and faculty are welcome.



DAINTERY CONTEST WINNER—Randy Collins, neutron from President Mortvedt, the first place winner in the crafty category. "Journal of Stoocer," Randy is a member of PLU's debate squad and is a sophomore speech major. Other stands in PLU Gamma Delta's Dad annual event were Zachary Simonsen, second, and Harry Wicks, third.

### COLLEGE DRIVE-IN

BURGERS • FRIES  
PIZZA • SHAKES  
INDOOR DANCING AND  
ORDERS TO GO  
Phone LENORE 7-5786  
12200 Pacific Ave.